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DECISION
[1] The applicants contest the decision rendered by the review department of the Société de l’assurance automobile du Québec (the “Société”) on October 1, 2014, upholding the decision of the compensation officer refusing to consider them presumed victims following the death of their daughter in an automobile accident on June 17, 2011.
[2] The applicants were present at the hearing with their counsel. The Société was also represented by counsel.
[3] When asked at the beginning of the hearing to clarify the subject of this proceeding, counsel for the applicants stated that he is asking the Tribunal to declare the applicants victims within the meaning of the Automobile Insurance Act
 of the accident that occurred on June 17, 2011.
[4] He referred to the definition of “victim” set out in s. 6 of the Act and submitted that the applicants were victims of this accident, in their own right, within the meaning of s. 6 of the Act and that the injury they suffered following the accident is a post-traumatic stress condition.
[5] He admits that the applicants received the decisions rendered by the Société following the application for death benefits they presented on July 6, 2011, and that they did not contest those decisions.
Background
[6] The applicants are the parents of three children, two girls and one boy.
[7] On June 16, 2011, their daughter, born on June 3, 1996, was working in the evening.
[8] At 3:30 a.m., they noted that she had not returned home.
[9] At 6:00 a.m. on June 17, she still had not returned home and shortly after, at around 6:45 a.m., a Sûreté du Québec motor vehicle arrived at their home.
[10] The police informed them that their daughter had died in an accident at around 
4:00 a.m. and asked them to go to the hospital morgue to identify her.
[11] They arrived at the morgue at around 8:00 a.m. and identified their daughter.
[12] They then went to the scene of the accident at around 8:30 a.m.
[13] Tape prohibiting access surrounded the scene of the accident and the car in which their daughter had died was on the platform of a tow truck.
[14] Subsequently, they prepared their daughter’s funeral and on July 6, 2011, they filed an application for compensation with the Société following their daughter’s death.
[15] Their application was accepted and the Société informed them on July 28, 2011, that they were entitled, in equal shares, to a compensation of $50,211 following their daughter’s death
 and $4,695 to cover funeral expenses.

[16] On September 28, 2015, the Société informed the applicants that people who were entitled to death benefits could be reimbursed for costs incurred to receive psychological treatment.
[17] The file contains details of the fees incurred by the mother for eight hours of psychological services totalling $692.80 as well as details of those incurred by the father for two and a half hours totalling $216.50.

[18] The death benefits and the reimbursement of funeral expenses were paid to the applicants on July 29, 2011. The expenses incurred for psychological treatment were reimbursed on October 2, 2015.

[19] The applicants did not file any application for review following the decisions rendered by the Société as a result of their application for compensation dated July 6, 2011.
[20] However, on June 5, 2014, the applicants filed a new application for compensation with the Société in which they described the facts surrounding on June 17, 2011, as follows:

[translation]
I saw the crime scene – wrecked car – police officers – cordoned-off areas – large circle of blood + hair + brain on the ground – forest damage. I picked up C.’s shoes, makeup – body identified at the morgue. Dr. Louise Lantagne, at the time of the accident – nervous shock, post-traumatic stress.
[21] On July 3, 2014,
 the Société informed the applicants that their application for compensation as presumed victims of the accident was refused.
[22] The applicants applied for the review of that decision on July 11, 2014, and attached a report from Dr. Louise Lantagne dated June 9, 2014, to their application.
 This report reads as follows:
[translation]
This letter certifies that I (Dr. Louise Lantagne) assessed Ms. D. V. at her home on the evening of June 17, 2011. She was in a state of shock because she and her spouse had to identify the body of their daughter X at the morgue. The body of the young girl was severely mutilated from the aftermath of the automobile accident, where she and a friend, who also died, were passengers. The parents, Ms. D. V. and Mr. D. F., after going to the morgue, went straight to the crime scene, which had not yet been cleaned. There, they found one of their daughter’s shoes, her makeup kit, uprooted trees, a pool of blood, and a brain fragment. 
One can understand the shock they received. When I met with them on the evening of June 17, 2011, Ms. V. was pale, tearful, and trembling and was constantly wondering what had happened when she had spoken to X during the night and everything seemed fine.
In light of the anxiety noted during the assessment, she was prescribed 6 mg of Lectopam to allow her to calm down and perhaps sleep. It appeared that being at the crime scene had triggered post-traumatic shock because Ms. V. lost her ability to concentrate for an extended period and did not return to work until January 2013. The nightmares, images of her daughter’s body and the crime scene troubled and continue to trouble Ms. V.’s days and nights, especially because of the constant reminders of the accident through legal debates, which prevent any respite in this respect and make the mourning process difficult.
[23] They also attached to their application for review the following report dated June 23, 2014, prepared by the social worker, Lucette Boivin:

[translation]

Mr. F., Ms. V., as agreed, I am sending you a summary of the intervention that took place when your daughter X died on June 17, 2011.
June 17, 2011:
Family intervention with Mr. F., Ms. V., and their two children V. and E.
Circumstances of the accident:
On June 17, 2011, C. and her friend N. were riding in a car driven by Mr. T.L. Both young girls died following an accident. Mr. L. was allegedly driving while impaired by alcohol and seemed to have been driving much faster than the legal limit.
Facts related by Mr. F. and Ms. V. on the morning of June 17, 2014
Early in the morning, police officers came to inform the couple of the circumstances of the accident and the death of their daughter X.
That morning, the couple went to the morgue to identify X’s body. In her own words, Ms. V. told us that her daughter’s head resembled a pumpkin that had fallen from the second floor. Mr. F. told us that he could identify X’s body only by small parts of her body. They said that they were traumatized to imagine how violent the impact must have been to leave their daughter’s body unrecognizable and so mangled.
Later that day, Mr. F. and Ms. V. went to the scene of the accident. Ms. V. told us that she saw huge quantities of blood. They also found hair, cosmetics, and one shoe belonging to X soaked in blood.
Mr. F. told us that the long journey between the road and the site of the impact confirmed to him that his daughter had time to see the impact coming and that she must have been terrified.
The couple told me that images of their daughter’s mangled body as well as those of the scene of the accident would forever leave a painful memory that goes way beyond words.
Mr. F. and Ms. V., I hope this summary meets your expectations.
[24]  The review department rendered its decision on October 1, 2014, upholding the initial decision and the applicants contested that decision before the Tribunal administratif du Québec (the “TAQ”) on October 7, 2014.
[25] That contestation is the subject of this hearing.
[26] The Tribunal must determine whether the applicants are “victims” of the automobile accident within the meaning of s. 6 of the Act. This clarification should be made because the review decision rendered by the Société speaks of a “presumed victim” although this notion is not found in the Act and the applicants’ application is based on the notion of “victim”, not of “presumed victim”.
The mother
[27] The mother testified at the hearing and explained that her daughter was in school in June 2011 but used to work on Thursday and Friday evenings. On June 16, which was a Thursday, she worked in the evening and was supposed to return home after. The mother spoke to her daughter at around 10:00 p.m. In the night, at around 3:30 a.m., her spouse realized that she had not returned home. He got up at around 6:00 a.m. The police came to the house at about 6:45 a.m. while he was having breakfast. They told her that her daughter had been in an accident and had died. They asked her to go to the hospital morgue. She and her spouse arrived there at around 8:00 a.m. and stayed about 15 minutes. They saw their daughter in a plastic bag, unrecognizable, completely disfigured. She could not believe that it was her.
[28] She stated that they then went to the scene of the accident about 15 minutes from the hospital to understand what had taken place. She completely panicked when she saw everything that had happened. She saw her daughter’s blood, her hair, and a piece of brain. She did not hear anything the police officer said. She was frozen. It was a total nightmare. The area was cordoned off but she went past the police tape to access the scene of the accident. Her spouse gave her her daughter’s right shoe, which was covered in blood, and a bottle of her makeup, which she took in her hands.
[29] She reiterated that she saw hair on the ground and that she knew it was her daughter’s because she had it dyed the day before. It smelled like her daughter’s perfume on the spot and she will never forget that smell. The vehicle was there on a platform, completely wrecked, and they had had to cut the roof to remove her daughter from the car.
[30] She said that she felt helpless, angry, sad, and beside herself at the scene of the accident. She could not believe that her daughter was killed in such a manner. They remained at the scene for about 15 minutes but she has no sense of time since the accident. She finds it horrible to know that her daughter had such a violent death.
[31] She stated that on the day of the accident, at the end of the day, she saw 
Dr. Lantagne, who has been her physician for about twenty years. She had come to see her at home, but on the day of the accident and in the days that followed, she was disconnected from everything.
[32] She went back to work two weeks after the accident but it did not work out. She actually resumed working in January 2013. She keeps seeing images of the accident. Darkness, speed, sirens, ambulances are elements that bring her back to the accident. She would like to remove the images of the accident but cannot and must live with that. The accident is never far from her thoughts. Every Thursday, she tries to create a new story in her mind but that does not work. She saw a piece of her daughter’s head on the ground and wonders if anyone can imagine the magnitude of what she is going through. She remembers these images too often, every week. She hates Thursdays and wants no more Thursdays in her life.
[33] She added that she met with a social worker, Lucette Boivin,
 as suggested by 
Dr. Lantagne. That consultation helped her with regard to the grieving process but did not remove the images of blood, brain, and the wrecked car.
[34] She also saw psychologist Kathleen Giguère, to whom she was referred by 
Dr. Lantagne. The psychologist tried to tame the images of the accident but it was not successful.
[35] She reiterated that she resumed work in January 2013, with highs and lows, but says that she is lucky because she has an understanding employer. He allows her to withdraw if needed and understands her mood swings. He provides her with a flexible schedule and the possibility of staying at home if she feels the need to do so.
[36] When cross-examined by counsel for the Société, she stated that the passage of time between the moment she learned of her daughter’s death and the moment she arrived at the scene of the accident was between 6:45 a.m. and 8:30 a.m., whereas the accident allegedly occurred at around 4:00 a.m.
[37] Counsel for the Société filed a bundle of documents
 and the representatives for the parties wondered about the time of the accident, whether it was 3:45 a.m.
 or 4:10 a.m.
 Counsel for the applicants admitted that the accident took place at about 4:00 a.m.
[38] Counsel for the Société then referred the mother to the social worker’s intervention report
 and the mother added that the social worker came to meet with them at home on the day of the accident. They also met with her at the CLSC on a few occasions after that but she does not remember how many times they saw her or why she asked for the intervention report.
[39] Counsel then referred her to the application for death benefits dated July 6, 2011.
 She acknowledges that she signed that application, spoke with the Société’s officers, received letters from the Société,
 that she was asked to provide a death certificate, which she did, that she received decisions on June 21, 2011, and on July 28, 2011, and that she had received the compensation amount.
[40] She added that she saw that it was a decision with right of review and she acknowledged that she did not contest it but stated that she was not in the frame of mind to contest it at that time.
[41] Counsel for the Société referred her to the decision that was rendered on July 28, 2011,
 and she remembered that decision. She received the amount and she reiterated that she did not apply for a review of that decision.
[42] Counsel for the Société then asked her at what point she met with psychologist Kathleen Giguère, but she did not remember. Counsel for the Société then referred her to the record of appointments she had with the psychologist,
 as well as to the statement for the sum of $692.80, which the Société refunded her for eight appointments with the psychologist, with the note that she was entitled to seven more appointments and the mother confirmed that she has had no further appointments with the psychologist since the last appointment recorded in 2014.
[43] Counsel for the Société then referred to the file concerning the application for compensation dated July 6, 2011, which reveals that compensation in the amount of $25,105 was paid to each of the applicants
 and that no application for review was filed regarding the decisions. The mother stated that they did not have any other contact with the Société after that.
[44] Counsel for the Société asked the mother to explain the context in which she filed a new application for compensation with the Société in June 2014. The mother explained that when they received the decisions concerning the compensation in 2011, the papers were placed on the counter and they were not able to contest at that time. A few years later, however, she realized that they had [translation] “to get their butts in gear” every morning and that, if she had not had an understanding boss, they would be on welfare.
[45] She said that they have no help and that they are forced to work. She can work from home, however, which is what she has been doing since January 2013.
[46] She added that she would like to be able to function normally in society and that she contacted a lawyer on her own initiative. She had not consulted before because she thought that she was capable of resolving this on her own.
[47] Counsel for the Société referred to the report prepared by the psychologist,
 and the mother added that Dr. Lantagne had suggested that she see a psychologist, which her counsel also recommended.
The father
[48] The father was the next witness. He was born on October 14, 1967, and has been Ms. V.’s spouse since August 1992. He heard his spouse’s testimony and agrees with what she said.
[49] He explained that when he arrived at the scene of the accident on the morning of June 17, there were several police tape lines and carnage. The car was on a platform with the roof cut out. There were skid marks on the asphalt, torn up turf, and a great deal of flattened hay. There was the initial point of impact with lots of glass, car parts, and a piece of flesh with hair and gravel around the piece of flesh, and then a second point of impact 30 or 40 feet away from the first one, and a third point of impact, which was even more devastating, with the turf all torn up and pieces of car everywhere.
[50] He stated that there was also the smell of his daughter’s perfume her makeup, and a pool of blood, two feet in diameter.
[51] The police allowed them to access the scene and he found his daughter’s right shoe covered in blood and pine needles, which he picked up, as well as a bottle of makeup. He was trembling like a leaf. He returned to see his wife, who was crying, and gave her the items he had picked up.
[52] He stated that there were many journalists at the scene of the accident who wanted to talk to them, but they refused. He also said that a police officer came up to them before they crossed the police tape and that they stayed on the scene of the accident between 15 and 30 minutes.
[53] He said that he saw Dr. Lantagne on the day of the accident and that he resumed his job as a millwright two weeks after the accident. He wanted to wipe all of it from his mind, to forget everything, but he did not manage to do so. He was anxious and his mind always went back to the accident. He could not concentrate and he was full of anger. His return to work did not work out and he stopped working in January or February 2012 because he could not do it anymore.
[54] He had many memories in his mind. He felt dizzy and it remains like this today, every day. If he sees a vehicle like the one in which his daughter died, if he passes by the scene of the accident, if he sees police cars, if he hears sirens or songs that his daughter liked or if he hears church bells, it all brings him back to the accident.
[55] He said that he and his wife saw psychologist Giguère in 2014. He shared his memories with her, and told her that he cried and was angry.
[56] He stated that, since January 2013, he has been working as a truck driver between a sawmill and a planer over a distance of two kilometers, but that he tried to work at two locations before that and it did not work out because it was too stressful for him. He also worked at another location for five months and stopped because there was no work.
[57] He said that he finds nighttime difficult. He is anxious at night, which brings to mind the Thursday evening when the accident occurred. The scene of the accident comes back to him at night. In the context of his current job, every morning, he has to pass the place where the accident occurred, and this is difficult.
[58] During his cross-examination by counsel for the Société, the father explained that he was angered by what he saw at the scene of the accident, the carnage and the fear he imagines his daughter might have felt before she died due to the speed at which the car in which she was a passenger was driving.
[59] He said that his life has been [translation] “ruined” that he resents the driver of the car because he killed his daughter. This is part of his suffering, but only to a small degree. He followed the proceedings against the driver up to the Supreme Court. He was relieved when the verdict was rendered and he believes the driver got the sentence he deserved for the acts he committed.
[60] He added that they have seen the social worker several times at the CLSC as well as at home and that they were more comfortable at home, because when things like this happen, you want to distance yourself from everyone.
[61] Last, he stated that he went to identity his daughter at the hospital and that she was in a plastic bag covered in blood and completely disfigured.
Dr. Charles Lajeunesse
[62] Psychiatrist Charles Lajeunesse testified next.  
[63] He also conducted a medical expert assessment for each of the applicants on November 27, 2015 (filed as Exhibit R-1 for the mother and Exhibit R-2 for the father).
[64] From all this evidence, the Tribunal accepts the following:  
The mother
[65] The mother has no particular psychiatric history other than a depressive episode in 2003, which was treated by medication and lasted a few months. 
[66] She states that she currently has a certain lack of interest in a number of leisure activities that she did before.
[67] Her daily functioning shows a more or less beneficial, restless sleep and a reduction in her capacity to experience pleasure. 
[68] She has also lost weight.
[69] Everything brings her back to the fact that she has lost a child.
[70] The memories concerning the death of her daughter must remain [translation] “in a little box” so that she can function.
[71] She also takes psychotropic medication (Lectopam at bedtime). She refuses to take an antidepressant.
[72] She gives an account of the horrific images she saw when she had to identify her daughter at the hospital morgue. She was overcome with a feeling of helplessness. She said [translation] “We were there, we couldn’t do anything. They were holding us back”.
[73] Moreover, it was just like abandoning her daughter, she thought, when they closed the plastic bag back up.
[74] She even had the impression that her daughter was not dead and that what she saw was not possible.
[75] She said: [translation] “If you told me that it would cost $100,000 to erase these images, I would give it”.
[76] She also recounted what she saw at the accident site. Since some elements were detailed above, the Tribunal does not find it necessary to repeat them.
[77] Two weeks later, the mother tried to go back to work. However, she could not concentrate and kept thinking about her daughter. She stopped working and resumed in January 2013.
[78] She started to have nightmares. 
[79] Every day, she thought about the images of the accident, whether or not she wanted to.
[80] She said she has become anti-social and aggressive, and has built an armour for herself.
[81] Nevertheless, she has still been able to contribute to certain projects. 
[82] However, she cries a lot.
[83] The mental examination showed first an affect marked by sadness, anger directed at the driver, but also towards the medical staff, and the regret of not being able to spend time with her daughter.
[84] The anger is expressed through irritability.
[85] She has constant memories and is jumpy. She isolates herself from the outside world because she has difficulty expressing her feelings.
[86] She believes she has become difficult to live with.
[87] The expert feels that the applicant first exhibited acute stress and presented all the signs.
[88] This diagnosis later turned into a post-traumatic stress disorder with pathological grief, for which he lists the diagnostic criteria as set out in DSM-5.
 The expert also discussed these criteria in his testimony and applied them to the mother’s situation. 
[89] The Tribunal will list them below.
[90] In answering the questions of his mandate, the expert stated that the following diagnoses were emitted: acute stress, which had evolved into post-traumatic stress disorder, complicated by complex and prolonged grief disorder.   
[91] Given the absence of a pre-existing condition, the occurrence of the accident in question, the initial appearance of acute stress then the natural evolution of the symptoms that seem to be consistent with post-traumatic stress disorder and grief, as well as its continued progression, these diagnoses will be accepted in connection with the accident. 
[92] He believes it is too soon to determine the mother’s permanent impairments because a more intensive treatment should be initiated for both the complicated grief and the post-traumatic stress. However, he is of the opinion that the mother’s current condition corresponds to a category of severity 3. 
[93] Grief resolution techniques could be applied, in addition to those aimed at treating post-traumatic stress disorder (EDMR).
[94] Although the mother is currently working, there are some temporary functional limitations.
The father
[95] Prior to the events, the father had experienced an episode of burnout, but he cannot state the exact date. He was treated with medication and therapy.
[96] Following the events, the father resumed his job as a millwright within two weeks and he worked until February 2012. He had to stop working after that because of his anxiety and inability to manage the stress.
[97] He reduced his leisure activities following the death of his daughter.
[98] He is able to attend to his domestic activities. However, his sleep is marked by his waking up around midnight, at which time he is anxious and he thinks about his daughter and the accident. He has trouble going back to sleep. 
[99] He notes a diminished ability to concentrate, causing him to check what he writes.
[100] He had a psychological follow-up after the accident, which he stopped when he went back to work. He resumed follow-up in 2015.
[101] He started using Zoloft one month ago. It has reduced his sadness and increased his ability to concentrate, but its effect is not maximal.
[102] Since the father started a new job as an oil delivery driver, it has been like a disaster for him because he has had to relearn all his clients’ specifications. 
[103] In addition, at the hearing, the father explained that he must unfortunately constantly pass by the site of his daughter’s accident. 
[104] When asked to describe the events, the father had immense difficulty finding the words. He was then able to describe them in great detail, which the Tribunal will not reproduce here.
[105] Unlike the mother, the father went further on the scene of the accident. He was able to note the various points of impact. He was the one who picked up the make-up bottle, the shoe covered in blood. 
[106] The father said that he was stunned and that he was [translation] “freaking out”.
[107] He had to stop working due to the presence of recurring flashbacks. He was imagining the details of the vehicle’s trajectory. He remembered that his daughter did not like speeding and that the driver had to be driving at full speed. He could just imagine the fear his daughter must have felt. 
[108] He spoke about the rage that he carries.
[109] He is tired, out of patience, anxious, and angry. 
[110] He thinks about it every day.
[111] Moreover, he can no longer bear any pressure.
[112] He had nightmares for five or six months. 
[113] He stated that he is always sad and constantly confronted with elements that remind him of his daughter: a song, an accident, police or firefighters’ sirens. This immediately leads him to remember images from the accident.
[114] He jumps at the slightest noise.
[115] Since the spring of 2013, he has had to change jobs a few times.
[116] He noted that it is impossible for him to have fun. He isolates himself, hides, and is afraid of being judged by others.
[117] During the mental examination, his affect was marked by sadness, anger, and a sense of shame.
[118] He cried in the interview and was overwhelmed by intense anxiety with tightness in the chest.
[119] The diagnoses for the father are acute stress that developed into post-traumatic stress and persistent complex bereavement disorder. In addition, the father presents elements of phobia when driving at night. However, in points 3 and 6 of his conclusions, the expert added that the father, due to his limitations, has an adjustment disorder with respect to professional changes.
[120] It is all related to the accident in question.
[121] Adjustment disorder (with comorbidities) would be responsible for an inability to work for at least three months.
[122] The expert proposed certain treatments combining psychotherapeutic measures and medication.
[123] In light of these, it is too soon to establish permanent impairments.
[124] However, in his current state, the father’s condition corresponds to a category of severity 3.  
The criteria for post-traumatic stress disorder – applied to the applicants’ cases
[125] In terms of criterion A, concerning exposure to actual or threatened death, the Tribunal deems it relevant to reproduce the expert’s opinion, which is found in the expert assessment of the mother:
    
[translation]

With regard to the post-traumatic stress disorder, the trauma is the announcement of the death quickly followed by the identification of her daughter’s body in a traumatizing manner because the mother had to strongly insist, even stating that she was ready to fight to gain access to see her daughter, who was presented without preparation (body askew in the bag, face disfigured, bag closed quickly in front of her before she could touch her daughter), then she was left to herself. She immediately went to the scene of the accident where she could see the damage, which showed the violent nature of the accident, the body parts, hair and brain, her daughter’s personal items and perfume scent, in addition to the dramatic aspect caused by the presence of harassing journalists. It is therefore the intensity of the scenes that were seen, just a few hours after the accident, with concrete and very personal details, that makes the scene of the accident vivid and confronts the patient with the intensity of the accident. This particular and rapid context causes Ms. V. [the mother] to be directly involved in the accident, as she was not able to distance herself (the way a decompression chamber could do), which allows us to consider that the mother was involved in the accident because the chronological context reinforced the mother’s identification with her daughter who was the accident victim. That is how the mother is traumatised by the accident just as if she were a passenger or a direct witness to the accident.
[126] The expert stated that in cases like these, this criterion is met in particular by sub-criterion 4, because the applicants were exposed in an [translation] “extreme” manner to the aversive characteristics of the traumatic event(s). 
[127] The expert also explained that [translation] “One can be traumatized without witnessing the accident”. He added that in the case of the applicants, it was [translation] 
“the same as being in the car”.
[128] The father stated that he can picture his daughter in the car, she who did not like speeding. So he imagines how she must have felt. It was as if he was forced to watch a movie. It is as though he himself was in the accident. The expert said that it is an imaginative process that is traumatizing, 
[129] Criterion B
 concerns intrusion symptoms that started after the trauma occurred. The applicants meet sub-criterion 1, concerning the repetitive, involuntary, and intrusive memories of the traumatic events, causing a feeling of distress. They are reminded of the scene, what their daughter went through. They feel an intense sense of mental distress when exposed to elements that evoke some aspect of the trauma: ambulance sirens, bells chiming (recalling the funeral), cars, etc. (sub-criterion 4). 
[130] To meet criterion C, persons must present one or two signs described as sub-criteria. The mother meets the first sub-criterion in that she avoids memories and thoughts related to the trauma. She explains very well that she cannot open [translation] “the little box”, where her memories are crammed. The second sub-criterion involves avoiding external reminders that bring up distressing memories. However, in this case, grief plays a role: the mother explained that she had been unable to put away her daughter’s room, which means that she is constantly confronted with memories of her.  
[131] Criterion D
 concerns negative alterations in cognitions and mood associated with the events. The applicants are unable to recall an element surrounding the events because they presented signs of disassociation at the time of the events, when they arrived at the scene. They withdraw socially because they are afraid of being judged by others (sub-criterion 2), they are angry (sub-criterion 4), and they have cut back on their leisure activities as they have lost interest or find no pleasure in them(sub-criterion 5). 
[132] Criterion E
 concerns marked alterations in wakefulness and responsiveness. The applicants show anger (sub-criterion 1), hypervigilance (sub-criterion 3), and a change in sleep (sub-criterion 6).
[133] Last, their overall condition meets criteria F, G, and H. 
[134] When cross-examined on the difference between experiencing an accident and seeing the scene of an accident, the expert stated that it would not be possible to see the scene without there first being an accident.
[135] The expert amalgamates the accident itself with the scene of the accident. He stated as follows: [translation] “For them, the scene of the accident is the accident”. 
[136] They see the accident as though they were there. [translation] “It’s vivid”, he added.
[137] When the applicants arrived at the scene of the accident, they saw and experienced a real situation, that of blood and odours. That increased the emotional aspect and everything they were personally feeling.
[138] Continuing his explanations, he stated that, for the applicants, the trauma is being confronted with every review, with the mental construction of the accident that causes them to experience it with reactions and emotions.
Arguments from counsel
[139] When asked to make his submissions, counsel for the applicants considered them to be victims, in their own right, of the accident that occurred on June 17, 2021, and the fact that they were compensated as parents does not prevent them from being compensated as victims just as though they had been in the automobile.
[140] He submits that the question is whether they qualify under s. 6 of the Automobile Insurance Act, which must be read in conjunction with the definitions of bodily injury and accident.
[141] He is of the view that it was wrong to reduce the concept of accident to a mere impact because the accident is any event in which damage was caused by an automobile. An accident is an event, which has a beginning and an end, and not only an impact. According to him, the notion “any event in which damage is caused by an automobile” must be interpreted broadly enough to include the applicants.
[142] He added that in the case of the applicants, we have an event that occurred during the night of June 17, 2011, which continued to exist up until the moment the applicants arrived at the site. The scene of the accident was still active, still hot, as Dr. Lajeunesse said, it was the brutal and vivid reality of the accident, the image of the accident. This is the image that has been haunting the applicants and has caused not only stress, which brings its own share of distress and misfortune, but crippled their ability to grieve.
[143] This post-traumatic stress, this injury, constitutes damage caused by an automobile within the notion of accident, which is any event in which damage is caused, and “in which” refers to a notion of duration that can vary in time.
[144] He submitted that the case law establishing what constitutes damage caused by an automobile has evolved in recent years and referred to Godbout c. Pagé-Gargantiel c. PGQ
 and Westmount (Ville) c. Rossy.

[145] These three judgments rendered by the Supreme Court in the last five years have expanded the scope of the law in unexpected ways. Counsel does not think that there were many people before 2012 who might have said that a tree falling on a parked car killing a passenger could be an automobile accident while this was what the Supreme Court decided. 
[146] He added that Godbout-Gargantiel was rendered subsequently and, more recently, there was also E.O., which he filed.

[147] He stated that this decision is the judgment that reversed the TAQ decision refusing to recognize an indirect damage in connection with an accident.
[148] He noted that the case law of the Social Affairs Commission and of the TAQ has long been to the effect that a fall caused by a injury recognized in connection with an accident was not compensable because it was damage resulting from the damage but the Court of Appeal reversed that on June 22, 2017, and ultimately stated that obstacles should not be placed where there are none. 
[149] He submitted that in paragraphs 15, 16, and 17 of E.O., the Court of Appeal, invoking Godbout-Gargantiel recalled an expanded concept of the notion of accident.
[150] He pointed out that when Mr. Gargantiel fell into the ditch, he could not move for 42 hours, that one of his legs had to be amputated, and that it was a road accident that lasted for 42 hours.
[151] Counsel submitted that the Supreme Court and the Court of Appeal say that an accident is not only the impact but also what comes immediately after and in Godbout the full episode that goes all the way to the hospital.
[152] He referred to paragraphs 15, 16, and 17 of E.O. and submitted that, in our case, it is even more evident because it was the accident while in Gargantiel, the Sûreté du Québec had failed to locate him in the ditch.
[153] He argued that the time the accident takes is not what counts and that the question is whether the crime scene is part of the automobile accident and the events that follow in the wake of the automobile accident.
[154] He questioned how one could logically disassociate the scene of the accident from the accident and suggested that if the legislature had wanted this, it should have said so, but  it did not when it referred to an event.
[155] He considered that the scene of the accident is part of the accident and that they cannot be disassociated. He said that the case law is to this effect and that what is good for Gargantiel over a period of 42 hours is also good for the applicants.
[156] He submits that in the case of the applicants, the car was there as well as police tape when they arrived at the scene of the accident, they are the parents, it was their child who had died, and they are presumed victims because, in their case, the damage they suffered occurred in the accident.
[157] He submits that medicine also played a part in this case and that when the legislature uses the expression bodily injury, it fully understands that psychological damage may evolve. He does not know whether post-traumatic stress was a known concept in 1978 because  the term neurosis was used at the time, but it is a concept that has evolved in medicine and today, we have the DSM-5, which recognizes that exposure to horrible images can cause post-traumatic stress without specifying, however, that it is heightened when parents are not prepared, while Dr. Lajeunesse said this.
[158] He therefore considers that these notions must evolve and that is why he states that each case is different, crime scenes may vary, the proximity between the accident and the victim may vary, as may damage.
[159] Counsel filed a text that he wrote in the wake of P.D. c. PGQ et CNESST (IVAC).

[160] He referred to that decision
 rendered by the TAQ in matters concerning IVAC, involving an applicant who was exposed to the crime scene and who was recognized victim for his own damage. Counsel then referred to C.P.,
 also in matters concerning IVAC, where the applicant found her son hanged in the garage. Her exposure to the crime scene led to compensation. In both cases, compensation was given even though the applicants were not on the scene when the criminal acts were committed. Counsel considered that a parallel could be drawn with the situation of the applicants, who were not present at the time of the accident but were exposed to the scene of the accident.
[161] He stated that the more a crime scene is fresh, alive, current, contemporary and close to the impact, the more obvious the connection.
[162] He submitted that in this case, for the applicants, the sequence of events occurred between 6:45 a.m. and 8:30 a.m. on June 17, 2011, and that it is an event that cannot be disassociated from the accident. He says that the legislature chose the term [translation] “event” and that it did so for a reason.
[163] He added that the applicants saw their daughter’s death through her hair and the other elements they observed at the scene of the accident, He added that all accident scenes are not the same but that in our case, it is an exceptional situation that must be considered.
[164] He filed the decision of the Superior Court rendered by François Huot, J. in N.B., in matters concerning IVAC, who accepted that one should not underestimate the importance of virtual presence on the scene.

[165] He submitted that humans are intelligent beings and can experience intense trauma from what they see, like in this case, where the applicants saw the blood and imagined their daughter. They saw the speed and imagined the horror of what happened. That is the accident and there is damage in connection with this event.
[166] He added that Dr. Lajeunesse’s opinion is not contradicted and that in this case, we have a bodily injury associated with the event that occurred on June 17, 2011.
[167] Last, he filed two decisions rendered by the Tribunal administratif du Québec
 and submitted that with respect to the first decision, it is even clearer in our case because the applicants were in the accident and that with respect to the second decision, the woman was not on the scene, but was still compensated, which is reinforced by the concept expanded by Gargantiel and the two other judgments. 
[168] He therefore asked that the decisions of the Société be quashed and that the applicants be considered victims of the accident that occurred on June 17, 2011.
[169] Counsel for the Société submitted that first, and this will be her main argument, that the Court of Appeal reiterated in E.O.
 that while the relationship may be expanded, it is necessary to remain within the framework of the regime established by law.
[170] She stated that on March 3, 2009, the TAQ rendered a decision
 that an individual who is entitled to death benefits under the Automobile Insurance Act (AIA) was presumed to have the status of victim within the meaning of the AIA under s. 6, para. 2 of the AIA, thereby entitling the individual to all the other compensations provided for under the AIA. The Superior Court confirmed that decision on October 13, 2010.

[171] Counsel for the Société submitted that since 1978, family members of victims who died in an automobile accident have been compensated through death benefits pursuant to the AIA
 but that the judgments rendered on March 3, 2009, and October 13, 2010, would now allow an individual to be compensated twice under the AIA: by being entitled to death benefits under AIA, the individual was automatically characterized as a victim within the meaning of s. 6, para. 1 of the AIA, which also made it possible to be compensated as though he or she suffered bodily injury in an accident, despite not being involved in the accident.
[172] She added that these two judgments were not in line with the Société’s application and interpretation of s. 6 of the AIA since the start of the regime in 1978, that these judgments had a major impact on the economics of the compensation regime, that the Société did not appeal the Superior Court judgment but that due to the importance of preserving the economics of the regime and to clearly determine the scope of the insurance coverage, the AIA was amended in December 2010 as part of Bill 71.
[173] She stated that the purpose of that amendment was to specify the benefits that are payable following injury suffered by the successors of a victim who died in an accident by confirming for them the payment of death benefits and adding to the law the reimbursement of fifteen hours of psychological treatment.
[174] She submitted that in doing so, in December 2010, the legislature expressed its desire to stymie the jurisprudential interpretation in J.H., contemporaneous to its legislative amendment and therefore the legislature clearly circumscribes the notion of victim set out in s. 6 of the AIA as it had been applied since the start of the regime.
[175] She added that it is upon reading the judgments in J.H. that one understands that through the December 2010 legislative amendment of the AIA, the legislature confirmed that the individual who suffered bodily injury in an accident set out in s. 6 of the AIA must be on the scene at the time of the automobile accident and that no circumstance, however dramatic or psychologically significant it may be, can open the door to a different interpretation.
[176] She stated that the new provisions 6 and 62 of the AIA came into force on December 10, 2010, repealing paragraph 2 of s. 6 and adding to the new paragraph 2 of s. 62 the reimbursement of a maximum of fifteen hours of psychological treatment to an individual who is entitled to lump sum death benefits.
[177] She submitted that the main advantage of the solution chosen by the legislature, following the two judgments rendered in J.H. is to clearly structure eligibility for a public bodily insurance scheme for Quebecers while maintaining the current insurance coverage and avoiding an increase in the cost of the scheme that may result in increased insurance contributions.
[178] She reiterated that the legislative amendment can be explained by the legislature’s desire to stymie the jurisprudential interpretation of the TAQ as Professor Pierre-André Côté indicated in his treatise on the interpretation of legislation.

[179] She referred mainly to the following excerpts from the Journal des débats from December 7, 2010, to show the legislature’s intention with respect to the amendment that came into force on December 10, 2010:

[translation]

Mr. Girard: ... what did the Superior Court force you to do?
— (4:50 p.m.)
Mr. Frenette (Yves): The Superior Court forced us to... In addition to giving individuals death benefits and the cost of psychotherapy, it is forcing us to compensate them as though they were a victim who had been directly involved in the accident, as if they had been there when the accident happened.
…..
Mr. Frenette (Yves): It allows the courts to...just to be clear, in fact, for everyone, for us, the administrator, for the client and for the courts, the Tribunal administratif du Québec, with whom we are dealing, just to be clear, so that it’s not left to the judgment…actually… of the courts, the compensation to be paid to these people.
….
Mr. Frenette (Yves): So, in the end, we are compensating people who are on the scene of the accident and directly involved when the accident occurred. What this means is that they have to be present... We compensate these people when they are present at the time of the accident, when they are considered to be in the accident and when there is a risk or threat to their safety. At this point, all these people have been compensated by the insurance plan. These are the criteria that we use.
Mr. Girard: OK, but in that case, I understand that she arrived at the scene of the accident...
Mr. Frenette (Yves): Afterwards.
Mr. Girard: ... after. So, how do you interpret that?
Mr. Frenette (Yves): That she is not a victim within the meaning of the Quebec Automobile Insurance Act. She was not involved in the accident; therefore, there was no risk or threat to her safety. OK? What she is experiencing is post-traumatic shock.
Mr. Girard: And so, in this case, you have... It means that in the future a person, who experiences post-traumatic shock and was not on the scene of the accident at the time of the accident, may still have access to fifteen sessions. So, this is the element that you’re adding. So, it will not be necessary for a person to be on the scene of the accident to receive such a service if one is a member of ... But up to what point…
Mr. Frenette (Yves): If one is a close family relation. 
….
Mr. Frenette (Yves): What happens is that – well, I can maybe go with the legal – in the current provision, there are two... There is a provision that states exactly who a victim is – that is what I told you, directly involved and on the scene, etc. – the other provision concerns death benefits. Death benefits are received by successors and these successors, in s. 6.2, are who we call [translation] “presumed victims” so that they may, instead, be entitled to the death benefit. And it is this notion of presumed victim that has created ambiguity, and this is what has led us to litigation. And this is what we’re removing, the notion of presumed victims, to put them as recipients of death benefits of a victim of a road accident.
Mr. Girard: That means you’re removing the notion of a presumed victim.
Mr. Frenette (Yves): That’s right.
Mr. Girard: OK. But should a similar situation arise, can the individual apply for death benefits? 
Mr. Frenette (Yves): Yes. Death benefits, if the individual is a close relation of a deceased victim, yes, this individual will indeed be entitled to death benefits, yes. In fact, persons do not lose these rights; they are preserved under what is proposed.
[180] Counsel for the Société referred to Professor P.A. Côté’s handbook on the interpretation of legislation
 and asked us to interpret the amendment of December 10, 2010, as stymying the jurisprudential interpretation as pointed out by the vice-chairman of the Fonds d’assurance, at the Société de l’assurance automobile du Québec,
 in the above-cited excerpts from the Journal des débats.
[181] She referred us to the judgment that interpreted para. 2 of s. 6, which allowed the parents to be considered presumed victims,
 and to the Superior Court judgment that considered that this ruling was not unreasonable.

[182] She also referred us to commentary
 where the author examines the person concerned by the notion of accident victim to state that there is no indirect victim, that only the victims personally involved in the accident are entitled to receive compensation, and that in the case of the parents, their application would be based on the fact that they were indirect victims of their daughter’s accident.
[translation]

Even when people arrive at the scene of the accident while the scene is still active, their claims are refused because of this definition containing the expression “in an accident”. (Paragraph 99)
[183] She added that in the same commentary, the author cited J.H. to state that this decision created a new category of “victims”, noting that:
[translation]

Despite the major impact of this judgment, it did not have time to benefit victims. In fact, shortly after this judgment, an amendment to the law was presented.

[184] She reiterated that the legislature’s intention in abolishing paragraph 2 of s. 6 was to ensure that the parents are not presumed victims of the accident.
[185] She then addressed the second aspect of her submissions and referred to the testimony of Dr. Lajeunesse, who issued two diagnoses with respect to the applicants, namely, post-traumatic stress disorder and prolonged grief disorder. 
[186] She accepted that in his testimony and expert report, Dr. Lajeunesse spoke of reliving the scene of the accident and she believes that we are therefore not in the accident but at the scene of the accident, which means that the connection is not to the accident but to seeing the scene of the accident.
[187] She submitted that the law cannot be supplemented, that the legislature says “in the accident”, that author Mtre Jannick Perreault summarized it well when she wrote that the Act does not compensate indirect victims, and that psychiatrist Lajeunesse is adding to the law, which is outside his authority.
[188] She added that the evidence, on a balance of probabilities, is that the post-traumatic stress disorder from which the prolonged grief disorder arises is the result of the scene of the accident and, consequently, does not ground a conclusion that the injury resulted from the accident.
[189] She noted that DSM-5 is a medical book, with a very broad scope, and that it would be inconceivable for the Tribunal to rely on it.
[190] She said that there must be limits to the compensation regime and that one cannot refer to DSM-5 to establish them.
[191] Thirdly, she referred to the judgments rendered for crime victims seeking compensation and more specifically P.D. c. PGQ et CNESST (IVAC).
[192] She submitted that the notion of victim is very different and much broader in matters pertaining to the CVCA, due to the addition of the terms “à l’occasion” in French [“in” in English].
[193] She suggested that the panel’s argument in P.D. was based on the terms “à l’occasion” [“in”].
[194] She also stated that in criminal cases, the factual background must be taken into consideration, that in the case where the children had been drowned by their mother,
 the father arrived at the scene of the crime only five minutes after the drowning, while in this case, there were four hours between the time of the accident and the applicants’ presence on the scene of the accident.
[195] She added that the sequence of events is different in the case before us and she referred to the panel’s arguments in P.D.
, which recognized that the act was directed against the children’s father, which is not the case in this file. 
[196] She added that the Automobile Insurance Act does not refer to any injury occurring in the accident [“à l’occasion”] and that one cannot therefore draw a parallel between the Crime Victims Compensation Act
 and the Automobile Insurance Act.
[197] As an alternative argument, she referred to the file of the applicants’ daughter at the Société de l’assurance automobile
 and submitted that the decisions rendered in the file following the application for compensation on July 6, 2011, were not contested.
[198] She argued that there is authority of res judicata with regard to the benefits paid following the death of the applicants’ daughter. 
[199] She considered that if the applicants wanted more, they should have acted earlier.
[200] She argued that their current application is prescribed because they failed to contest the decisions rendered on their application for death benefits on July 6, 2011, and that they decided to submit a new application on June 5, 2014.
[201] With regard to the psychological treatment, she accepted that the applicants had not received the 15 hours of treatment they were allocated.
[202] She concluded that, through the amendment of the AIA in December 2010, the legislature specifically provided the benefits to which persons in the applicants’ situation are entitled.
[203] She submitted that the TAQ must apply ss. 6 and 62 of the AIA as they were worded on the date of the accident of the applicants’ daughter on June 17, 2011, and that automobile insurance is limited to compensating victims of automobile accidents according to the form and in compliance with the provisions of the Act that the Société is mandated to apply while respecting the legislative intent, which requires a more restrictive approach.
[204] She added that the AIA is of public order, that it must be interpreted and applied in accordance with the provisions set out therein and that the TAQ is mandated to see to the application of the statute and regulations that have force of law.
[205] Accordingly, she submitted that the amendments to ss. 6 and 62 of the AIA, which followed the TAQ decision and Superior Court judgment in J.H., left no room for any other possible interpretation and no parallel with another Act could be drawn.
[206] She asked the Tribunal to dismiss the proceeding.  
[207] In reply, counsel for the applicants submitted that he does not see how the authority of res judicata can be argued, because it requires an identity of object, cause, and parties. In this case, neither the parties nor the objects are the same.
[208] He added that the parents personally claim the status of victim and that, therefore, the object is not the same.
[209] He submitted that if counsel for the Société is arguing that the applicants are disqualified from receiving other benefits because they received death benefits, this should be set out in the Act.
[210] He said that the benefits were cumulative and referred to the Superior Court judgment in J.H., rendered by Mongeon, J.,
 dismissing this argument.
[211] He opined that the same argument applied to s. 6, para. 1, of the Automobile Insurance Act and that he did not need para. 2 of s. 6 in this case.
[212] He raised s. 6 of the Act, which defines the notion of victim, and he thinks that the definitions of victim, bodily injury, and accident interpreted broadly and liberally are enough to grant the applicants’ application.
[213] He submitted that all the judgments to which he referred were rendered after the publication of Mtre Perreault’s book and that he would have argued the same thing last year but that it is a more powerful argument this year with the broadening of the concept of “accident”.
[214] He considered that there is evidence on a balance of probabilities that the applicants meet the broad and liberal definitions of the Automobile Insurance Act.
[215] He submitted that the Crimes Victim Compensation Act and the Automobile Insurance Act are not harmonized, but they are related statutes that must be interpreted harmoniously.
[216] He added that the CVCA continues to assert that an individual must be at the scene where a criminal offence was committed to receive the benefits set out in the Act. Yet, François Huot, J. decided that it was not necessary to be at the scene to suffer post-traumatic stress.
[217] He was of the view that parents should not have to be at the scene of the accident at 4:00 a.m. and that case law must evolve with medical literature.
Analysis
[218] Counsel for the applicants asks the Tribunal to recognize that they are victims within the meaning of s. 6 of the Automobile Insurance Act following their daughter’s death in an automobile accident on June 17, 2011.
[219] Section 6 of the Automobile Insurance Act﻿ reads as follows:
6.  Every person who suffers bodily injury in an accident is a victim.
[220] The notions of accident, bodily injury, and damage caused by an automobile are defined as follows in the Automobile Insurance Act:
“accident” means any event in which damage is caused by an automobile;
“bodily injury” means any physical or mental injury, including death, suffered by a victim in an accident, and any damage to the clothing worn by a victim;

“damage caused by an automobile” means any damage caused by an automobile, by the use thereof or by the load carried in or on an automobile, including damage caused by a trailer used with an automobile, but excluding damage caused by the autonomous act of an animal that is part of the load and injury or damage caused to a person or property by reason of an action performed by that person in connection with the maintenance, repair, alteration or improvement of an automobile;

[221] He considered that the accident must not be reduced to an impact that occurred at a given time but that it involves an event that must be interpreted broadly.
[222] He submitted that the event that occurred during the night of June 17, 2011, continued to exist up until the moment the applicants arrived at the scene of the accident, which was still active, hot, and that this is the image of the accident that haunts them and causes stress that prevents them from grieving.
[223] Counsel for the Société considered that s. 6 of the Automobile Insurance Act was amended in 2010 to abolish para. 2, which had allowed the TAQ to consider the parents of a child who died in an accident presumed victims of the accident. She submitted that the legislature’s intent in doing so was to limit the parents’ rights to the death benefits and the 15 hours of psychological treatment set out in s. 62 of the Automobile Insurance Act.
[224] The applicants’ testimony was eloquent and established that seeing their disfigured daughter in a plastic bag at the hospital morgue and seeing the scene of the accident with pools of blood, their daughter’s hair attached to part of her brain, the scent of her perfume, her shoe and makeup forever changed their lives.
[225] They were not with her in the automobile, but what they experienced between 
6:45 a.m. and 8:30 a.m. on June 17, 2011, led them to imagine the horror that she may have experienced before dying at a very high speed, especially since speeding terrified her.
[226] They are unable to think about anything other than what they experienced on June 17, 2011. Everything brings them back to the event that led to their daughter’s death. Seeing the site of the accident, sirens of all sorts, church bells are all elements that cause them to relive the event.
[227] They have difficulty functioning and are unable to grieve because everything brings them back to the event.
[228] They were supported by their physician and various workers on the day of the accident and afterwards, but they are stuck where they were.
[229] Dr. Lajeunesse met with them separately and his reports are filed in the record. He also testified at the hearing and concluded that the applicants present a post-traumatic stress condition caused by the event of June 11, 2011, which prevents them from grieving.
[230] He considers that it is as if the mother had been involved in the accident and she is as traumatized by it as if she had been a passenger or a direct witness to the accident. He is of the view that for the applicants, it was the same thing as being in the car and he considers that, for them, the scene of the accident is the accident.
[231] Several paragraphs in the psychiatrist’s testimony deal with the notion of “victim” “in the accident”. The applicants use the opinion of this expert to establish that they are victims. The Société was correct in stating that the expert does not have this authority. The expert has no jurisdiction with regard to the legal notions of the AIA. He cannot determine whether the applicants meet the criteria of the definition of victim in the AIA.
[232] Section 6 of the Automobile Insurance Act, as it was prior to December 2010, had two paragraphs and allowed the TAQ to consider the parents of a child who died in an automobile accident as presumed victims of the accident by referring to paragraph 2 of s. 6, which read as follows:
6.  Every person who suffers bodily injury in an accident is a victim.
Unless the context indicates otherwise, every person who is entitled to a death benefit where the death of the victim results from the accident is presumed to be a victim for the purposes of this division.
[233] The Société sought a judicial review of that decision but the Superior Court confirmed it.
[234] The Société did not appeal that judgment but it started the process of amending the Automobile Insurance Act, which led to the abolition of para. 2 of s. 6 cited above.
[235] At the hearing, Counsel for the Société filed the excerpts from the Journal des débats that led to the repeal of para. 2 of s. 6. She did this to establish the legislature’s intention, which was to limit the compensation of the parents of a child who died in an accident to the death benefit already set out in the Act, to which a series of 15 hours of psychological treatment was added.

[236] At the hearing, she submitted that these excerpts from the Journal des débats clearly show the legislature’s intention and she referred to articles of scholarly commentary that has confirmed it.
[237] Counsel for the applicants considered he does not need paragraph 2 of s. 6 as it was prior to 2010 to ground his argument that the parents of a child who died in a accident are victims of the accident in their own right.
[238] He submitted that the definitions of accident and bodily injury lead to the conclusion that the notion of accident must not be limited to impact, but concerns any event in which damage is caused by an automobile.
[239] He referred to the Court of Appeal judgment in E.O. and to the Supreme Court judgment in Godbout-Gargantiel, which broadened the notion of accident, as well as P.D. in matters pertaining to crime victims seeking compensation where the TAQ considered the father of the children drowned by their mother to be the victim of a criminal act even though he was not present on the scene when the crime was committed.
[240] He submitted that the Automobile Insurance Act and the Crimes Victim Compensation Act are social legislation that, as such, must be given a broad, liberal, and harmonious interpretation. 
[241] The Automobile Insurance Act is indeed social legislation and the Tribunal notes that the case law and the Interpretation Act establish that such legislation must be interpreted in a broad and liberal fashion.
[242] In Godbout-Gargantiel, the Supreme Court established that for the purposes of the Automobile Insurance Act, it is enough to establish a sufficiently close link between the bodily injury and the accident to receive the benefits set out in the Act.
[243] The Tribunal accepts, however, that through the legislative amendments made to 
s. 6 of the AIA and the removal of the second paragraph, following the Superior Court judgment confirming the TAQ decision in J.H., the legislature wanted to prevent TAQ’s interpretation from prevailing in the future and to avoid any ambiguity on the issue.
[244] The Tribunal recalls that it is necessary to use the historical method to interpret 
s. 6 of the AIA in the context of this file to give this provision the meaning that the legislature intended to give it following the 2010 legislative amendments. To do so, the Tribunal may take into account the information from general history, the history of the legislative text and refer to the preparatory work.

[245] As Professor Côté points out:

In order to interpret a legislative enactment, it is permissible, if not frankly necessary, to consider the historical context in which the law was adopted. Moreover, it is reasonable to assume the legislature was aware of this information:
…
In construing an Act of Parliament we are attempting to find the intention of Parliament. We must find that intention from the words which Parliament has used, but these words must be construed in the light of the facts known to Parliament when the Act was passed. 

[246] It is also admitted in common practice that it is appropriate to refer to the text that was replaced, repealed, or amended to determine the interpretation to be given to a new legislative text. 
[247] In fact, citing Pigeon, J. of the Supreme Court in Gravel v. Cité de St-Léonard Professor Côté wrote that “[l]egislative history may be used to interpret a statute because prior enactments may throw some light on the intention of the legislature in repealing, amending, replacing or adding to it.” 

[248] In addition, the Tribunal reiterates the existing presumption that the legislature, through a legislative amendment, did not want to merely improve the wording, but intended rather to amend the standard set out in the text. “[I]f the legislature has taken the trouble to modify an enactment, it must have done so to change its substance”.

[249] This legislative amendment ensures that a close relation of a victim can no longer be considered a [translation] “presumed victim” because he or she will receive the death benefit and thus will receive the full compensation as though he or she had personally been the victim of the automobile accident.

[250] It appears from the events that led to the legislative amendments, and from a reading of the debates on those amendments, that the legislature never wanted for the parents of a victim who died in an automobile accident to be recognized as victims within the meaning of the AIA, but agreed that para. 2 of s. 6 had created some ambiguity.

[251] As stated earlier, it is recognized that the AIA must be given a broad and liberal interpretation, but the Tribunal considers that this interpretation should not go against the legislature’s clearly expressed intention.

[252] When a tribunal uses the rules of interpretation to interpret a legislative provision, the legislature’s intention at the time the provision was drafted must always be sought. In this case, the legislature’s intention is clear, and there is no cause to interpret the provision further.

[253] That being said, the Tribunal notes that both applicants suffer from post-traumatic stress disorder caused, on the one hand, from seeing their daughter’s mutilated body at the morgue, and, on the other, from seeing the scene of the accident.

[254] Seeing that scene allowed the applicants to mentally reconstruct the accident. 
Dr. Lajeunesse opined that this reconstruction is equivalent to experiencing the accident themselves. He stated as follows: [translation] “For them, the scene of the accident is the accident. They see the accident as though they were there. [translation] “It’s vivid”, he added.
[255] The Tribunal does not doubt the significance of the mental injury the applicants suffered as a result of their visit to the accident scene, in addition to the actual grief they experienced.

[256] However, this panel cannot subscribe to the opinion of the expert on this point. Seeing the scene, as painful as it may have been, is not the accident itself.

[257] In fact, according to s. 1 of the Act, an accident is any event in which damage was caused by an automobile. In this case, the applicants’ injury was instead caused by subsequently seeing the scene of the accident.
[258] Counsel for the applicants asks the Tribunal to give a broad interpretation of the term “accident”, to include the moment when the applicants went to the scene of the accident. 
[259] However, the Tribunal points out that s. 6 stipulates as follows:
6. Every person who suffers bodily injury in an accident is a victim.
(Emphasis added.)
[260] The legislature’s use of the term “dans” in French [“in” in English] circumscribes the accident and is distinguishable from the term “à l’occasion de” in French [“occurring in”   in English] used in other legislation.
[261] The expression “à l’occasion de” in French has a broader meaning than the term “dans”, which marks the time and indicates a specific moment. 
[262] Thus, the Tribunal considers that counsel for the applicants is asking it to recognize that the accident was still ongoing when they arrived at the scene of the accident.
[263] This brings us to the debates that took place in the National Assembly in 2010.
[264] In this regard, cases in which people showed up at the scene of the accident, causing them post-traumatic stress, were specifically discussed. It was decided to grant them 15 hours of psychological treatment, not to consider them victims in their own right.   
[265] Counsel for applicants referred to the decision of the Supreme Court of Canada (SCC) in Godbout-Gargantiel to support his arguments that the parents are victims within the meaning of s. 6 based on the need to give this Act a broad and liberal interpretation.
[266] However, the SCC, in that decision, stated that the AIA must be given “a large and liberal interpretation that will further the Act’s purpose, although that interpretation must also be plausible and logical”.
 In that case, however, the notion of victim was never called into question because it was admitted by all parties that the applicants were victims.
[267] In addition, although the SCC seems to leave a door slightly ajar in paragraph 30 of its judgment where it writes that “[a]s the legislature intended, an automobile accident victim who suffers bodily injury in the accident and as a result of events subsequent to the accident”, the Court did not expand on the fact that it used the expression “occurring in” [“à l’occasion de” in French], it being understood, once again, that the issue before the Court was not whether the applicants had the status of victims within the meaning of the AIA.
[268] Care must therefore be taken not to give too broad a scope to a judgment that ruled on a very specific dispute, which is not the one before the Tribunal in this case.
[269] With regard to E.O.,
 the Court of Appeal’s judgment is not relevant to this dispute because it addresses the notion of indirect injury and of consolidation. 
[270] Counsel for the applicants also submitted case law concerning files the TAQ hears under the Crimes Victim Compensation Act (CVCA), but concepts applicable under the CVCA should not be transposed to the AIA because the two statutes differ greatly with regard to the definition of the term “victim” in each statute, the wording of the definition in the CVCA is clearly broader than the one in the AIA, as appears from the following excerpt from s. 3 of the CVCA:
3. A crime victim, for the purposes of this Act, is any person killed or injured in Québec:
(a) by reason of the act or omission of any other person occurring in or resulting directly from the commission of an offence the description of which corresponds to the criminal offences mentioned in the schedule to this Act;
[271] In the decisions rendered under the CVCA submitted by counsel for the applicants, the parents were compensated as victims because the broad wording of the Act allowed it.
[272] It should also be noted that either the parents were directly targeted by the other parent in the act that caused the death of their child or children, or they thought they could prevent the act that caused the death of their child or children.
[273] The Tribunal accepts that the legislature chose different definitions to set in motion the compensation process specific to each of these two statues by specifying in matters pertaining to the CVCA that it may be an injury occurring “in” [“à l’occasion” in French] the commission of a criminal offence, while the Automobile Insurance Act speaks of injury that occurred “in an accident”.
[274] It may be desirable to harmonize these two statues, but it is not up to the Tribunal to do so and to override the legislative intent clearly expressed through the legislative amendment that came into force on December 10, 2010.
[275]  Therefore, the Tribunal considers that the evidence adduced before it and the arguments submitted by counsel for the applicants, which were analyzed in light of the legislature’s clear intention when the AIA was adopted, and more particularly shown when the legislative amendment came into force on December 10, 2010, to limit the parents’ right to the death benefits and 15 hours of psychological treatment set out in s. 62 of the AIA, do not support the conclusion that the applicants are victims within the meaning of s. 6 of the AIA following the accident that caused the death of their daughter on June 17, 2011, because the injury they present was not suffered in the accident.
[276] In light of our conclusion, the argument raised at the hearing concerning the authority res judicata has become moot.
FOR THESE REASONS, the Tribunal:
· DISMISSES the proceedings; and
· MAINTAINS the decisions rendered by the review department.
JOCELYN CARPENTIER, a.j.t.a.q.
	
	MICHÈLE RANDOIN, a.j.t.a.q.
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